STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

MICHAEL RAY ELDERS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000242

BRIEF OF PETITIONER
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE

RECEIVED
MAY 03 2018
SC Court of Appeals

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting when the forensic interviewer, Lysa Miller-Dupre, testified by giving her opinion that the minor/victim had not been coached, was not affected by suggestibility, and recommended evidence-based therapy for the minor at the Dickerson Center which was the advocacy center for children who had been sexually abused which was improper bolstering and vouching of the minor's credibility.

2.

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting to the hearsay testimony by the SANE nurse, Robin Baker, who testified that the minor told her in the pre-screening interview that she had been sexually molested by her father who had placed his finger in her pants and rubbed her private area, and made her touch his private which was outside the scope of Rule 801(d)(1)(D) SCRE and a violation of Rule 403, SCRE.

STATEMENT

Michael Elders and Shelly Elders had been married about sixteen years at the time of the alleged incident, but had not lived together in four years. They had two children- a fourteen-year-old boy and twelve-year-old girl at the time of trial in 2011. App. 226, ll. 1 – App. 227, ll. 25. When the minor girl was eight years old, she began having visits with her father every other weekend. Sometimes her brother went also. App. 228, ll. 1 – App. 229, ll. 23.

The minor testified at trial that her father started touching her under her pants on her private parts when she first started going to visit him. She finally told her mother who took her to the police. App. 169, ll. 7 – App. 176, ll. 17.

The minor's mother, Shelly Elders, testified that her family had made allegations about Elders "over a couple of years" but she did not react. This time she received a call from her sister who told her that she had heard that Elders was touching the minor "inappropriately." When the mother asked the minor about it and threatened to take her to the doctor, the child told her that her father had touched her. The mother then took the minor to the police and then the hospital for an exam. App. 230, ll. 1 – App. 232, ll. 25.

Elders was indicted for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and committing a lewd act on a minor. App. 540 – App. 545. On February 7, 28-March 2, 2011, Elders proceeded to trial before the Honorable William P. Keesley and a jury. Elders was represented by William Y. Rast, Jr., and the state was represented by Debra B. Moore. App. 1. At trial, the minor testified, and the video of her forensic interview at the Dickerson Center was published to the jury. App. 169, ll. 7 – 176, ll. 17; App. 198, ll. 18 – 24; App. 200, ll. 1 – App. 203, ll. 15.

Lysa Miller-Dupre was qualified as an expert in forensic interviewing and child abuse assessment without objection by defense counsel. App. 191, ll. 21 – App. 194, ll. 11. Miller-

Dupre interviewed the minor on July 6, 2009 at the Dickerson Center, which was an advocacy center where interviews were conducted for children who were reported as being sexually abused. The minor was ten at the time. App. 191, ll. 23 – App. 192, ll. 25; App. 198, ll. 18 – 24. Miller-Dupre testified that the minor told her that her father had sexually assaulted her about a year earlier. It happened in her father’s bed while her grandmother was sleeping in the same room. App. 199, ll. 1 – App. 200, ll. 24.

The solicitor then asked Miller-Dupre, in her opinion, was the minor’s disclosure “affected by suggestibility or any type of coaching.” Miller-Dupre responded no. Then the solicitor asked her if she had made any recommendations following the minor’s disclosure. Miller-Dupre recommended the child receive evidence based therapy at the Dickerson Center. App. 203, ll. 4 – 10.

There was no objection by defense counsel. The DVD of the interview was then published to the jury. App. 203, ll. 11 – 16.

Laurie Caldwell, a former employee of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED), was offered by the state to be qualified as an expert in forensic interviewing and child abuse assessment. Defense counsel objected to her qualification as an expert because “there was nothing in her testimony to indicate that she would have a better opinion than somebody else.” App. 300, ll. 1 – Ap. 303, ll. 25. The judge qualified her as an expert in the field of child abuse assessment. App. 322, ll. 22 – App. 323, ll. 10. The judge noted trial counsel’s “exception.” App. 324, ll. 1 – 5. Laurie Caldwell never talked with the minor child in this case. App. 332, ll. 18 – 24. During cross examination she said in response to counsel’s question:

Q: An interviewer, a forensic interviewer, is not to determine whether or not the child is telling the truth or lying?

A: Yes, that's part of our job is to render an opinion on whether or not the child has given a credible disclosure.

Q: A forensic interviewer is supposed to determine whether or not the child is telling the truth or not?

A: Yes. We render our opinion of whether or not the child has given a credible disclosure.

App. 335, ll. 3 – 18.

In her direct testimony, Caldwell testified primarily about delayed disclosure by children of sexual abuse. App. 324, ll. 6 – App. 332, ll. 13. Caldwell said specifically that children don't tell right away especially "when it's inside a unit like a family or a real trusted friend; there's this huge thing of secrecy." App. 328, ll. 15 – 25. Caldwell also related that when the perpetrator was someone the child trusted like a parent, the child felt trapped and learned to accommodate as a means of survival. There was no objection by defense counsel to the testimony. App. 329, ll. 9 – 22.

Robin Baker was the emergency room nurse at Lexington Medical Center who performed the sexual assault exams as the SANE nurse at the time of this incident. App. 260, ll. 14 – App. 261, ll. 20. She was qualified as an expert in the field of sexual assault examination. App. 263, ll. 24 – App. 264, ll. 2.

She testified that she obtained the history from the child before the exam about what happened. According to Robin Baker, the minor told her that she had been "sexually molested, that someone, that her father had placed his finger down her pants and had started rubbing around her private areas and that it hurt." The minor also told her that it hurt to urinate. App. 265, ll. 2 – App. 266, ll. 18.

The minor continued to tell the nurse that she was "just walking around and he just put his hands down her pants." The minor explained that her uncle, Johnny Hutto, saw it and got

“really, really mad.” The minor heard her uncle tell her father that “that’s not right because that’s your daughter.” App. 266, ll. 19 – 25.

The nurse continued to ask the minor questions, and the child told her that the touching hurt. The minor child told the nurse that her father made her touch his private parts under his clothes. Then her father asked her if her friend, B.J., would play truth or dare with him. App. 267, ll. 1 – 23.

Robin Baker then testified about the physical exam she performed on the minor child. She took photographs of the minor’s vaginal and anal areas. She found redness on the outside of the vaginal area. She took four photographs of the redness which were admitted into evidence. The trial judge ordered that these four photos-Exhibits 3 – 6, be sealed after the trial. App. 271, ll. 5 –App. 273, ll. 6.

The nurse then explained the photographs and redness in detail. When asked for her opinion, Robin Baker said the trauma or injuries were “consistent with a sexual assault.” App. 273, ll. 9 - App. 275, ll. 4. Then the nurse admitted that the trauma could have been caused by a urinary tract infection if she had been diagnosed with such an infection but she had not. She explained that it was the “rubbing friction” that caused the redness and irritation which made it appear to be a sexual assault. App. 275, ll. 5 –App. 276, ll. 11. The nurse also admitted that feces on the area would irritate it. However, she stated that based on what the child told her and the redness, her finding was that it was sexual abuse. App. 282, ll. 1 – App. 283, ll. 25.

The solicitor argued in her closing that the forensic interviewer, Miller-Dupre, believed the minor child although the defense attorney said that she did not believe the child. Then the solicitor argued that the most “compelling” witness was Robin Baker, the SANE nurse. App. 386, ll. 1 – 22. The solicitor argued:

Mr. Rast made a big deal about Lysa Miller-Dupre doesn't believe the minor. She didn't say that. She said she can't make a determination whether she's telling the truth or a lie. But I asked her: Was that interview problematic? And she said no. She does believe her, ladies and gentlemen. Otherwise, the record would say it was problematic. It wasn't.

I submit, ladies and gentlemen, our most compelling witness was Robin Baker, the sexual assault nurse examiner. She told you, yes, she has to get the history of the assault. That's important to gather so that when she looks at the physical evidence, they match the story that's given.

App. 386, ll. 3 – 17.

Elders did not testify at his trial. App. 2-App. 3.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the CSC with a minor first degree charge and the lewd act charge of touching the genital area of a child. The jury found him not guilty of the lewd act where he put the child's hand on his penis. App. 417, ll. 12 – App. 418, l. 19. The judge sentenced Elders to thirty years on the CSC and fifteen years on the lewd act with both charges running concurrent. App. 424, ll. 16 – App. 425, ll. 5.

Elders filed a notice of appeal which he later withdrew. App. 548.

On August 2, 2012, Elders filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on March 15, 2013. An evidentiary hearing was held on August 14, 2013 before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. Petitioner Elders was represented by Tristan M. Shaffer, and the state was represented by J. Walt Whitmire. App. 439.

At this first PCR hearing, Elders did not testify but presented his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel through his PCR attorney. App. 440. Elders claimed that his trial attorney was ineffective for not objecting when the forensic interviewer improperly vouched for and bolstered the credibility of the minor victim when the interviewer recommended the child receive therapy and had not been coached. Basically, the interviewer said the interview was not

“problematic” which PCR counsel argued meant she believed the minor. App. 453, ll. 2 – 9; App. 493, ll. 6 – App. 494, ll. 11; Supp. App. 2-3.

Elders’ PCR attorney said trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the interviewer being qualified as an expert in forensic interviewing. App. 504; App. 510. Elders’ attorney argued that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the hearsay statement of the SANE nurse which went beyond time and place as she said the child identified her abuser as her father. App. 482, ll. 2 – App. 483, ll. 10; Supp. App. 2-3. Counsel also argued that the nurse said there could have been other causes of the redness such as excessive wiping. App. 450, ll. 1 – App. 451, ll. 9.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that this was mainly a credibility case. Elders said he was not guilty “the whole time.” Elders always wanted a trial. He wanted to prove that the entire incident was “concocted by his estranged wife and others.” App. 456, ll. 16 – App. 458, ll. 21. Trial counsel admitted that he never consulted an expert, and did not hire an investigator. App. 459, ll. 1 – App. 460, ll. 25.

Trial counsel said that the forensic interviewer who interviewed the child did not say the minor child was telling the truth which left him room to argue that the child was not. However, he admitted that he did not object when the interviewer said the child was not being coached and she recommended the child receive therapy. He admitted that those statements taken individually could make the jury think the interviewer believed the minor child. He said it was up to the jury. App. 466, ll. 1 – 24. When confronted about the interviewer not finding the interview problematic, trial counsel said it could be argued that the expert interviewer believed the minor. App. 467, ll. 1 – 18.

Trial counsel knew that the law at the time of trial was that an expert could not say if someone is telling the truth or lying. App. 470, ll. 1 – 18. Trial counsel testified that he did not object to the hearsay testimony of the SANE nurse when she went beyond time and place in telling that the minor said that her father molested her. App. 482, ll. 10 – App. 483, ll. 22.

PCR counsel argued to the court that trial counsel allowed the minor child's credibility to be bolstered through several witnesses. App. 495, ll. 19 – App. 496, ll. 9.

On April 28, 2014, Judge Dickson issued an order denying Elders' PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 503 – App. 515. Judge Dickson found that trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the forensic interviewer because the "clinical professional" did not bolster the victim's testimony when she testified that she recommended therapy for the child victim.

The judge ruled that Elders failed to meet his burden to prove trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to Miller-Dupre's qualification as an expert in forensic interviewing and child abuse assessment or for not objecting to portions of her testimony. The judge wrote: "This court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist at the time of trial." App. 510. The judge wrote that the controlling law at the time said any error qualifying Miller-Dupre as an expert was harmless. App. 510

Judge Dickson also found that trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the SANE Nurse Baker testifying concerning her pre-examination interview with the minor victim which went beyond time and place when the child identified her father as her abuser. App. 510-App. 511. The judge said an objection had to name specific grounds.

Elders' PCR attorney failed to file a notice of appeal due to his "switching offices." He wrote a letter to that effect. App. 531, ll. 1 – 25.

On November 7, 2014, Elders filed a second PCR application on the grounds that he was denied his statutory right to an appeal from his first PCR. App. 516 – App. 522. The state filed a return on March 17, 2015. An evidentiary hearing was held on April 23, 2015 before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. Elders was represented by Anna R. Good, and the state was represented by Walt Whitmire. App. 529. At this PCR hearing, PCR counsel explained to the court that the first PCR attorney, Tristan Shaffer, had written a letter explaining that he had failed to timely file an appeal due to his switching offices. App. 531, ll. 22 – App. 533, ll. 11. The state consented to “Austin relief” where Elders would receive a belated appeal from his first PCR. App. 531, ll. 1 – 21.

On January 4, 2016, Judge Goldsmith issued an order granting Elders a belated appeal from his first PCR pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991). The judge found that Elders did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to appellate review of his first PCR order. A petition pursuant to Austin was filed accompanied by a petition for a writ of certiorari on September 6, 2016. The Court of Appeals granted both petitions on April 11, 2018. This brief of petitioner addressing Questions 1 and 3 as directed by the Court of Appeals follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not objecting when the forensic interviewer, Lysa Miller-Dupre, testified by giving her opinion that the minor/victim had not been coached, was not affected by suggestibility, and recommended evidence-based therapy for the minor at the Dickerson Center which was the advocacy center for children who had been sexually abused which was improper bolstering and vouching of the minor's credibility.

In State v. Dawkins, 297 S.C. 386, 377 S.E.2d 298 (1989), the Supreme Court held that it was improper for the prosecutor to ask the psychiatrist who had treated the child, victim in a criminal sexual conduct with a minor case, if the symptoms of alleged child sexual abuse were genuine. Although the court found it was error, it did not warrant a mistrial.

In State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011), the Supreme Court ruled that the error in admitting portions of the forensic interviewer's interviews with the child victims of sexual abuse which was inadmissible hearsay, was not harmless. The Court found that the interviewer stated that each child had given a "compelling disclosure of abuse" which was improper vouching of the credibility of the victims, and the children's credibility was the "most critical determination of the case." The Court held: "For an expert to comment on the veracity of a child's accusations of sexual abuse was improper." Citing State v. Dawkins, *supra*.

In Thompson v. State, Op. No. 27785 (filed March 21, 2018, Pet Rehearing pending), the Supreme Court wrote that in a direct appeal the bright-line per se rule of finding prejudice when trial counsel failed to object to inadmissible hearsay testimony which identified the defendant as the perpetrator no longer controlled but that a harmless error analysis should be used. The Court cited

State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011), where the Court overruled Jolly to the extent Jolly used the per se rule precluding a finding of harmless error.

In Jennings, the Supreme Court defined an error as harmless “when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial.”

The Court in Thompson provided that in a PCR case, the defendant still had to prove prejudice when trial counsel failed to object to the inadmissible hearsay. The Court held that as part of the prejudice analysis, the PCR court and reviewing court had to consider the strength of the state’s case without the inadmissible evidence to which trial counsel failed to object.

The Supreme Court in State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), wrote that “although an expert’s testimony theoretically is to be given no more weight by a jury than any other witness, it is an inescapable fact that jurors can have a tendency to attach more significance to the testimony of experts.”

In State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015), a forensic interviewer, Ginger Griggs, was qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment. The Court did not reach the expert issue on Griggs but found error in Griggs’ recommendation that Chavis not be around the victim for any reason. The Court ruled that this recommendation could only be interpreted that Griggs believed the victim’s claim of sexual abuse. The Court ruled that this recommendation was inadmissible as improper bolstering of the victim’s credibility.

In Briggs v. State, 421 S.C. 316, 806 S.E.2d 713 (2017), the Supreme Court affirmed the PCR court’s grant of relief to Briggs. Briggs was convicted of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree. The Supreme Court held that trial counsel’s failure to object to forensic interviewer’s testimony that her role was to determine if the victim knew the difference between the truth and a lie and to find out if something had happened was “deficient performance” by counsel. The Court also

found that trial counsel was ineffective when he asked interviewer during cross examination how she could determine if the victim was telling the truth.

Elders' case is similar to Briggs on both of these issues. Trial counsel in Elders' case asked Laurie Caldwell who was qualified as an expert in child abuse assessment, if a forensic interviewer was to determine whether or not a child was telling the truth or lying. The interviewer of the child, Miller-Dupre, testified that she recommended that the child receive evidence based therapy which was telling the jury that she believed that something happened to the child.

However, Elders' case is distinguished from Briggs on the issue of the interviewer stating that the child had not been coached. In Briggs the Court found that defense counsel made coaching the child an issue in his opening statement when he said that the mother of the child told everyone who would listen that the child's father was putting all of this in her head. The court found that the state elicited the coaching testimony from the interviewer to respond to defense counsel's making coaching an issue in his opening statement.

This was not the situation in Elders' case. Trial counsel waived opening in Elders' trial. There was no mention of coaching by trial counsel.

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