ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2018

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COU

Appellate Case No. 2016-000242

MICHAEL RAY ELDERS,

Petitioner,

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2018

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

SC Court of Appeals

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PURSUANT TO *AUSTIN V. STATE*

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KELLY OPPENHEIMER
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 103245

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY

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

Here, the trial court charged the jury:

. . . You alone determine the truth of the evidence, its effect, its value and its weight. You alone judge the credibility of witnesses, in other words, whether or not a witness’ testimony is believable.

In that regard, you may believe all that a witness said or none of it. You may believe part of what a witness said and not believe the balance. You may believe one witness against many or many against one. You may consider an interest, bias or prejudice that you feel that a witness has in the case. You may consider the demeanor and the appearance of the witness and the opportunity for knowledge that the witness had. You may consider whether a witness has been consistent or inconsistent. And you may consider the lack of evidence presented by the State.

App. 394-95. The trial court further charged: “You may accept or reject the opinions and testimony of an expert witness just as you may any other witness in whole or in part.” App. 395. Clearly, the jury was aware of its duty to weigh the credibility of each witness and determine whether or not each witness was believable. Furthermore, the jury was clearly aware it did not have to afford any expert’s opinion greater deference than that of any of the other witnesses.

At trial, the State presented numerous witnesses who all testified Petitioner had abused Victim, including Victim. These witnesses were both lay witnesses and expert witnesses. None

of these witnesses, with the exception of Victim, however, testified they never witnessed the abuse, though both Johnny Hutto and Felicia Schwall testified they saw some inappropriate behavior between Petitioner and Victim. Moreover, all of these witnesses testified Petitioner and Victim would sleep together when Victim visited Petitioner.

To the contrary, Petitioner presented multiple witnesses, all of whom testified they had never seen Petitioner touch Victim inappropriately. Furthermore, Petitioner presented the testimony of his own expert—Victim’s pediatrician—who testified he had no indication Victim was being abused. These witnesses further testified they had never witnessed this type of behavior from Petitioner with any Victim. Still further, they testified Petitioner and Victim would not sleep together when Victim would visit. In addition, Counsel’s strategy at trial was to diminish the credibility of the State’s witnesses by suggesting these allegations against Petitioner were the result of a “witch hunt” led by Mother. Counsel articulated this strategy by highlighting the fact Mother had previously had Petitioner arrested multiple times, none of which resulted in a conviction. Counsel further articulated this strategy by emphasizing the fact Victim used terms, such as “sexual assault,” in her disclosure—a term which is not commonly used by minors.

The jury was presented with two very different stories at trial, and the members of the jury chose to believe the version of events as presented by the State. Clearly, the jury had the opportunity to weigh the testimony of **each witness** presented by both the State and Petitioner. The jury also had the opportunity to determine whether or not the testimony presented by a particular witness was the result of any interest, bias, or prejudice against Petitioner. Furthermore, the trial court clearly instructed the jury not to afford an expert’s testimony greater deference than that of any expert presented. In fact, any argument the jury gave greater weight

to Miller-Dupre's testimony by the mere fact she was an expert witness is rendered moot by the fact Petitioner presented the testimony of his own expert at trial. For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the findings of the post-conviction relief court.

II. Petitioner's argument the post-conviction relief court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the alleged hearsay testimony by the SANE nurse, Robin Baker, is not preserved for appellate review. Even if Petitioner's argument were preserved, trial counsel was not ineffective when highlighting the fact Victim used the term "sexually assaulted," which is an unusual term for children to use, in describing the abuse was part of trial counsel's strategy in suggesting Victim may have been coached. Further, Petitioner suffered no prejudice from the admission of such testimony, as it was merely cumulative to other testimony presented at trial.

Petitioner further contends the post-conviction relief court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the SANE nurse, Robin Baker's, testimony that Victim told her during the pre-screening interview she had been sexually molested by her father, Petitioner, who had placed his finger in her pants and rubbed her genitals and also made Victim touch his penis.

Initially, Respondent notes Petitioner's argument is not preserved for appellate review, as this argument was not ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court. Pursuant to section 17-27-80 of the South Carolina Code, the post-conviction relief judge must make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80. The failure to specifically rule on the issues precludes appellate review of the issues. *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992). In the present case, the post-conviction relief court did not specifically address whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony presented by Baker that Victim told her, during a pre-screening interview, Petitioner had touched her genitals and, likewise, made her touch his penis.

In *Marlar v. State*, the Supreme Court held the applicant's failure to file a Rule 59(e), SCRCR, motion asking the post-conviction relief judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law as to rejected post-conviction challenges rendered those challenges waived

for appellate review, precluding further review on the merits. 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007). Indeed, the Supreme Court noted:

Counsel preparing proposed orders should be meticulous in doing so, opposing counsel should call any omissions to the attention of the PCR judge prior to issuance of the order, and the PCR judge should carefully review the order prior to signing it. Even after an order is filed, counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a), SCRPC.

Id. at 410, 653 S.E. 2d at 267. In the current case, Petitioner failed to make the proper motion under Rule 59. Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for appellate reviewed and should be dismissed.

The current case is similar to *Marlar* because Petitioner did not make a Rule 59(e) motion. Petitioner's argument to this Court is the post-conviction relief judge erred in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to object when Baker testified that Victim told her Petitioner had sexually assaulted her. The only issue ruled upon by the post-conviction relief court in its Order of Dismissal concerning Baker was whether Counsel was ineffective "for not adequately specifying his objection to Baker testifying to pre-examination interview with [Victim]." App. 510. The objection to which the post-conviction relief court is referring occurred after Baker testified Victim told her Petitioner asked if her friend, Brittany Jones, would play truth or dare with him. App. 267. Specifically, the following exchange took place at trial:

Q: Did she say anything else about what she did?

A: Do you mind if I read my notes?

Q: No, if that helps you refresh your memory.

A: . . . The other comments, I asked her if there was something else that she needed to add, if there's something, you know, prevalent to, you know, what

happened to her that day. And she said, Yes. He asked if my friend, Brittany Jones, would play truth or dare with him.

[Counsel]: Objection, Your Honor.

The Court: Yes, sir.

[Counsel]: I don't think that has anything to do with what she was doing in this particular case. It's irrelevant, immaterial.

...

The Court: The objection's overruled. You have something to add?

[Counsel]: You overruled it?

The Court: The objection's overruled. It's merely duplicative of what's already been entered into evidence.

App. 267-68. Additionally, Petitioner did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the post-conviction relief court to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his current allegation he now raises for appellate review. Therefore, under *Marlar*'s holding, the current issue now raised is not preserved for appellate review.

Even if Petitioner's argument were preserved for appellate review, Petitioner's argument lacks merit. "Counsel's performance is accorded a favorable presumption, and a reviewing court proceeds from the rebuttable presumption that counsel 'rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.'" *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. There is a strong presumption that counsel's decisions are based on tactical strategy rather than neglect. *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (quoting *Massaro v. United States*, 538 U.S. 500 (2003)). Indeed, trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. "[N]o particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate

decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Furthermore, “representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.” *Id.* at 693. “Accordingly, when counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Smith v. State*, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (citing *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). *See also Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992) (holding where counsel articulates valid reasons for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel); *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (holding counsel may avoid a finding of ineffectiveness if he articulates a valid reason for using a certain strategy). “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. at 122, 417 S.E.2d at 531 (citing *Goodson v. United States*, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir. 1977)).

Moreover, in *Watson v. State*, the Supreme Court reversed a post-conviction relief court’s determination trial counsel was ineffective for failing to prevent the introduction of hearsay testimony of several witnesses who testified about the abuse allegations against the defendant. 370 S.C. 68, 72, 634 S.E.2d 642, 644 (2006). The Supreme Court specifically held “counsel articulated a valid reason for failing to object to the hearsay testimony” where that reason was that counsel “wanted to avoid the possibility that the prosecution would have shown the video of the victim talking about the sexual abuse.” *Id.*

As with *Watson*, Counsel had a “valid reason for employing a certain strategy [and] such conduct [should] not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Watson*, 370 S.C. at 72, 634 S.E.2d at 644 (citing *Stokes*, 308 S.C. at 546, 419 S.E.2d at 778). Counsel testified he intentionally tried to highlight Victim claimed some things to others—such as Petitioner had made her touch his penis—while not referencing those allegations in her forensic interview. He wanted to highlight that inconsistent testimony. App. 460-61. In fact, Counsel intentionally entered a written statement from Victim’s mother as Defense Exhibit 1 for the purpose of challenging the assault claims and calling into question the terminology Victim and her mother had used.

[Counsel]: Could you read the statement for me, please?

A: Yes, sir. I received a phone call . . . telling me that [Petitioner] has been sexually assaulting our daughter, [Victim]. I told [Victim] I was aware of what was going on and I needed her to tell me.

...

A: She told me **her father had been putting his hands down her pants** and playing with her private area. I asked her how long this had been going on, she said every time she went over to his house for about a year. The call I received was from my sister . . . She told me [Petitioner’s] cousin, Johnny Hutto, saw [Petitioner] touching [Victim] inappropriately and I needed to ask [Victim] what was going on.

...

Q: . . . Did you use the words sexually assaulted?

A: Yep, sure did.

Q: And you also used the word that he had been touching her privates?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: That’s the exact same words [Victim] uses, isn’t it, sexually assaulted and privates?

...

Q: Isn't it true that most kids refer to private parts by different words--

...

Q: --such as tutu, wee-wee?

...

Q: And sexual assault, they use that phrase all the time, too?

A: Yeah. Yeah, I do. Uh-huh.

Q: That is not a Child's phrase, is it?

A: No, it's not a Child's phrase . . .

Q: And when [Victim] was testifying, she kept looking at you sitting back here behind me, didn't she?

A: Yeah, she kept looking at me. I'm her mother. I'm her support.

Q: And she's going to do what you want her to do?

App. 238-42 (emphasis added).

This narrative of Victim using terminology from other adults, like Baker, was also addressed by Counsel during cross-examination of Miller-Dupre:

[Counsel]: [Victim] **said she was sexually assaulted by dad. Sexually assaulted is not terms a ten-year-old uses, is it?**

A: Not typically.

Q: [Children] say something else. [Victim] got [the term] sexually assaulted from somebody else then, didn't she?

A: **I think [Victim] said that the nurse said that [term] to her.**

App. 205 (emphasis added). Accordingly, Counsel employed a valid trial strategy in highlighting the specific terminology Victim used in her disclosure and her testimony and, therefore, was not deficient.

Assuming Counsel should have objected to this line of testimony, Petitioner suffered no prejudice. “Improper admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error **only** when the admission causes prejudice.” *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011) (quoting *State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010)). The improper admission of hearsay testimony that is merely cumulative to other evidence, however, may be viewed as harmless. *Id.* at 478, 716 S.E.2d at 93-94 (citing *State v. Blackburn*, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978)). *See also State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016) (finding when two other witnesses testified, without objection, the victim told them the rape occurred at the appellant’s home, any testimony from the mental health counselor that the victim told her the rape occurred at the appellant’s home was merely cumulative to the two other witnesses and, therefore, any error in the admission of the counselor’s testimony was harmless); *Smith*, 411 S.C. at 169-70, 767 S.E.2d at 217 (finding no reversible error when the forensic interviewer testified the victim reported “he was about six or seven years old ‘when his dad started to do these things to him’” because such testimony was cumulative to other testimony through which the appellant was identified as the perpetrator).

Here, several witnesses testified, without objection, either (1) Victim told them Petitioner had abused her or (2) Mother reported to them Petitioner had sexually abused Victim. *See Smith*, 411 S.C. at 170, 767 S.E.2d at 217 (“Florencio testified without objection that the aunt and the victim reported to him that the victim had been sexually abused by his father. Thus, Smith was previously identified as the perpetrator without objection, rendering Twitty’s testimony harmless because it was cumulative.”). First, Officer Desiree Busko testified Mother advised her the

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